RECEIVED

Nov 08 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JEFFERY KEYON TIMOTHY GRIFFIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001311

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BREEN RICHARD STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by denying Appellant his right to self-representation at a hearing over six weeks prior to trial where Counsel joined Appellant's motion to remove her from his case, where Appellant expressed his dissatisfaction with his attorney and indicated he would like to represent himself, yet where the court denied Appellant's motion without even discussing Faretta¹ warnings?

- II. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to direct a verdict of acquittal for resisting arrest where the only evidence produced and argued by the State was that Appellant ran away when police ordered him to stop, yet where Appellant ultimately stopped, laid on the ground, and did not resist once police placed their hands upon him?

¹ Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 6, 2021, Appellant Jeffery Keyon Timothy Griffin was indicted by the Greenville County Grand Jury for armed robbery, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, pointing and presenting a firearm, and resisting arrest. R. 231-236. On July 22, 2022, a pre-trial hearing to relieve trial counsel was held before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely. R. 1; R. 3, ll. 3-25. Appellant was represented by Teal Johnson, and the State was represented by William Douglas Richardson, Jr. R. 1.

Appellant's case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., from September 6th through 8th, 2022. R. 16. Appellant was still represented by Teal Johnson, and the State was represented by William Douglas Richardson, Jr. R. 16. Appellant was found guilty on all counts and sentenced to concurrent terms of incarceration as follows: 20 years for armed robbery; five (5) years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime; five (5) years for pointing and presenting a firearm; and one (1) year for resisting arrest. R. 213, ll. 2-19; R. 220, ln. 13—R. 221, ln. 1.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the morning of November 24, 2018, Greenville County Sheriff's Office deputies responded to a robbery in progress at the 7-Eleven on Buncombe Road. A description of the suspect was likewise radioed by dispatch, as was his possible direction of travel. R. 52, ll. 8-25; R. 95, ln. 21—R. 97, ln. 25; R. 126, ln. 16—R. 127, ln. 21. While Master Deputy Javier Ochoa collected statements and video evidence at 7-Eleven, Deputies Corey Chadwick (Dep. Chadwick) and Jarred Greer (Dep. Greer) were enroute in separate vehicles with lights and sirens on; they saw a person—Appellant—walking on the roadside similar in description and direction of travel as the suspect, and turned their vehicles to approach him. Dep. Chadwick got out and chased on foot, while Dep. Greer continued in his vehicle. R. 53, ln. 24—R. 58, ln. 4; R. 97, ln.18—R. 100, ln. 6; R. 127, ln. 24—R. 129, ln. 19.

Appellant saw the police cars coming at him and ran from the roadside into the nearby wood line. R. 167, ll. 4-11. Dep. Chadwick followed about 25 to 50 meters behind with his gun drawn and shouting commands, “sheriff's office, stop, you're under arrest.” R. 134, ln. 14—R. 135, ln. 9. Meanwhile, Dep. Greer moved to the opposite side of the wood line, exited his vehicle, and entered the woods. When Dep. Greer heard and saw Appellant approaching approximately ten yards away, he ordered Appellant to the ground with his flashlight on and firearm drawn. Appellant immediately complied by laying face down on the ground, heeded commands thereafter and was placed into handcuffs without incident. R. 99, ln. 24—R. 102, ln. 2; R. 135, ln. 2—R. 136, ln. 1.

Inside the pillowcase found in Appellant's possession was \$156.06 in small bills and change, and a silver revolver. The sum of money matched the amount purportedly stolen from the nearby 7-Eleven, as did the silver handgun. R. 62, ll. 1-15; R. 74, ln. 11—R. 75, ln. 7; R. 76,

ll. 12-15; R. 102, ln. 20—R. 103, ln. 4. Appellant was questioned in the back of the police cruiser and then taken to jail. R. 102, ll. 1-5; R. 137, ln. 1—R. 143, ln. 24.

On July 22, 2022, Appellant’s motion to relieve trial counsel (Counsel) was heard remotely by the Honorable Perry H. Gravely. R. 1. After expressing several challenges experienced over the course of Appellant’s case to that point, Counsel informed the court that she was in agreement with Appellant’s motion to relieve her as his counsel: “Your Honor, I normally wouldn’t do this but this is now the second motion of Mr. Griffin’s. He is not happy with me. And I would join in his motion to be relieved, Your Honor.” R. 12, ll. 11-14. Appellant likewise informed the court of his desire not only to dismiss Counsel, but also to represent himself in his case:

So I’m here, you know, to—to let you know that *I would like to take the next step and as a self-representative* because I wasn’t assisted as I felt like I should have been to get the help that I needed to really have a fighting chance with my case. . . . I didn’t get the assistance like I felt like she should have filed for me as being her client. And to really just help to me get in a better situation to really fight my case.

R. 13, ll. 10-21 (emphasis added). The court responded as follows:

All right. I mean, it sounds like a lot of your issues that you are presenting to the court, deal with almost like sentencing mitigation issues. And those types of things. *I don't see any basis that you have really presented that makes The Court think that I should grant your motion.* Further, you got an excellent attorney and somebody that can use the issues you just raised to help you work something out or if you don't then you're going to have to go to trial. So I'm going to deny your motion. And you may have to get some serious discussions with Ms. Johnson about, like she said, some of the issues that are being present with you. Because this case is on the trial roster for a couple weeks down the road. So I'm going to deny your motion.

R. 13, ln. 22—R. 14, ln. 12 (emphasis added).

Appellant's case proceeded to trial from September 6th to 8th, 2022, before the Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., and a jury. Before a jury was drawn, Dr. Donna Maddox (Dr. Maddox) testified at Appellant's competency hearing. After meeting with him on three occasions, Dr. Maddox found that Appellant was very high functioning and worked at the sanitation department prior to being hit in the head and falling off a truck on the job resulting in a closed-head injury. Although he did have mental health issues, he was under medication and had the capacity to assist in his defense. R. 21, ln. 15—R. , ln. 23; R. 24, ll. 8-12. Although not representing Appellant in any capacity, Dr. Maddox further cautioned about Appellant's thoughts concerning representation: "Now, the last time I spoke with him, he did not want Ms. Johnson representing him, but today he said he would. He said at this point that he would." R. 23, ln. 24—R. 24, ln. 1. No follow-up questioning of Appellant regarding competency or self-representation was done by the trial court.

At the end of the State's case-in-chief, Counsel moved for a directed verdict. R. 158, ll. 3-5. The trial court dismissed the motion as follows: "I find there is the existence of evidence that would show that the defendant is guilty of the crime. Obviously, the standard is whether there is the existence or nonexistence of evidence, and I certainly find there is." R. 158, ll. 7-11. Similarly, after the defense rested its case, Counsel renewed all previous motions; the trial court noted and denied them. R. 174, ll. 12-15.

During deliberations, the jury sent a note asking the following: "What exactly resisting arrest? Is it noncompliance to an order? Was the defendant immediately told he was under arrest? R. 207, ln. 21—R. 208, ln. 2; R. 229. Without objection, the court sent the jury a copy of its original instruction on resisting arrest along with a note indicating that the jury must determine the fact in question based on the evidence presented. R. 209, ln. 19—R. 210, ln. 5; R.

229; R. 230. The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty on all counts. The trial court sentenced him to concurrent terms of incarceration as follows: 20 years for armed robbery; five (5) years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime; five (5) years for pointing and presenting a firearm; and one (1) year for resisting arrest. R. 213; R. 220, ln. 13—R.221, ln. 1.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court reversibly erred by denying Appellant his right to self-representation at a hearing over six weeks prior to trial where Counsel joined Appellant's motion to remove her from his case, where Appellant expressed his dissatisfaction with his attorney and indicated he would like to represent himself, yet where the court denied Appellant's motion without even discussing Faretta warnings.**

The trial court erred by violating Appellant's right to self-representation under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, as well as Article I, section 14 of the Constitution of South Carolina. On Appellant's motion to relieve his appointed attorney over six weeks before trial, he informed the court in no uncertain terms that he wanted to remove his attorney and represent himself. Interestingly, Counsel agreed and joined Appellant's motion to be relieved from the case. Rather than engaging in the necessary colloquy of Faretta warnings, the court simply stated it found no basis to remove counsel and denied Appellant's motion. Thus, the trial court erred by failing to even consider Appellant's request to represent himself, and instead foisted unwanted counsel upon him for trial. Further, Appellant was prejudiced as such an error is structural in nature. Accordingly, Appellant's case should be reversed and remanded.

“Whether a defendant has knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel is a mixed question of law and fact which appellate courts review de novo.” State v. Samuel, 422 S.C. 596, 602, 813 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2018) (citing United States v. Lopez-Osuna, 242 F.3d 1191, 1198 (9th Cir. 2000)). “Specifically, we review a circuit judge's findings of historical fact for clear error; however, we review the denial of the right of self-representation based upon those findings of fact de novo.” Id. (citing United States v. Bush, 404 F.3d 263, 270 (4th Cir. 2005)). “In doing so, this Court must consider the defendant's testimony, history, and

the circumstances of his decision, as presented to the circuit judge at the time the defendant made his request. *Id.* (citing United States v. Singleton, 107 F.3d 1091, 1097 (4th Cir. 1997)).

“A South Carolina criminal defendant has the constitutional right to represent himself under both the federal and state constitutions.” State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 35, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014) (citing State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 698 S.E.2d 604 (2010)). As the United States Supreme Court explained in Faretta v. California, the Sixth Amendment right to defend against accusations is personal to the accused, and grants him the right to make his own defense:

The Sixth Amendment does not provide merely that a defense shall be made for the accused; it grants to the accused personally the right to make his defense. It is the accused, not counsel, who must be ‘informed of the nature and cause of the accusation,’ who must be ‘confronted with the witnesses against him,’ and who must be accorded ‘compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor.’ Although not stated in the Amendment in so many words, *the right to self-representation—to make one’s own defense personally—is thus necessarily implied by the structure of the Amendment. The right to defend is given directly to the accused; for it is he who suffers the consequences if the defense fails.*

Id. 422 U.S. 806, 819–20, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 2533, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975) (emphasis added). This remains so even though having the assistance of counsel may very well be in the best interest of the defendant:

It is undeniable that in most criminal prosecutions defendants could better defend with counsel’s guidance than by their own unskilled efforts. But where the defendant will not voluntarily accept representation by counsel, the potential advantage of a lawyer’s training and experience can be realized, if at all, only imperfectly. To force a lawyer on a defendant can only lead him to believe that the law contrives against him. . . . The right to defend is personal. The defendant, and not his lawyer or the State, will bear the personal consequences of a conviction. It is the defendant, therefore, who must be free personally to decide whether in his particular case counsel is to his advantage. And although he may conduct his own defense ultimately to his own detriment, his choice must be honored out of ‘that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.’

Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834, 95 S.Ct. at 2540–41, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (quoting Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 350—351, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 1064, 25 L.Ed.2d 353 (Brennan, J., concurring)). In other words, the right to self-representation “must be preserved even if the court believes that the defendant will benefit from the advice of counsel.” State v. Fuller, 337 S.C. 236, 241, 523 S.E.2d 168, 170 (1999). “So long as the defendant makes his request prior to trial, the only proper inquiry is that mandated by Faretta.” Barnes, 407 S.C. at 35, 753 S.E.2d at 550 (citing State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 698 S.E.2d 596 (2010)); see also Samuel, 422 S.C. at 602-03, 813 S.E.2d at 491.

“[I]n order to represent himself, the accused must ‘knowingly and intelligently’ forgo those relinquished benefits.” Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835, 95 S.Ct. at 2541, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (quoting Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464-65, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 1023, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938)). While the skill, knowledge, and experience of an attorney is not needed for a defendant to “competently and intelligently choose self-representation, he should be made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, so that the record will establish that ‘he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.’” Id. (quoting Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 279, 63 S.Ct. 236, 242, 87 L.Ed. 268 (1942)). Simply stated, the court must warn the defendant of the dangers inherent in self-representation. Barnes, 407 S.C. at 36, 753 S.E.2d at 550 (citing State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 41, 503 S.E.2d 747, 750 (1998) (“Under Faretta, the trial judge has the responsibility to make sure that the defendant is informed of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, and that he makes a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel.”). “Whether a defendant is capable of effectively representing himself has no bearing upon his ability to elect self-representation.” Id. (citing Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 399, 113 S.Ct. 2680, 125 L.Ed.2d 321 (1993)). Rather, “the only basis upon which a circuit judge may deny a defendant's pre-trial motion to proceed *pro se* is if the

court determines the defendant has not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel.” Samuel, 422 S.C. at 603, 813 S.E.2d at 491 (citing State v. Reed, 332 S.C. at 41, 503 S.E.2d at 750). “A circuit judge’s denial of a defendant’s knowing and voluntary request to proceed *pro se* is a structural error requiring automatic reversal and a new trial.” Id. (citing State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 247, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013)).

An example of a Faretta violation in South Carolina is State v. Fuller. In Fuller, the defendant expressed to the court “his escalating dissatisfaction with his attorney” prior to trial. Id. 337 S.C. at 242, 523 S.E.2d at 171. It was not done for the purpose of delay, but “to address his growing concerns about his attorney.” Id. Because the trial court failed to make the proper inquiries on the record, the omission required reversal. Id.

In the present case, the circuit court held a hearing on July 22, 2022, wherein Appellant sought to have his attorney relieved as counsel. R. 3, ln. 21—R. 4, ln. 1; R. 5, ll. 16-19. Up to that point, his case had “been passed around from different public defenders” in their office until landing on the current attorney’s desk in March 2021. R. 7, ll. 7-11. Appellant expressed his exasperation and displeasure at Counsel’s failure to advocate the way he believed was needed for his defense, and sought her removal from his case. R. 5, ll. 6-19; R. 13, ll. 17-21. Interestingly, Counsel acknowledge Appellant’s repeated requests to remove her from his defense, and actually joined in Appellant’s motion: “Your Honor, I do believe that our relationship is broken. . . . Your honor, I normally wouldn’t do this but this is now the second motion of [Appellant]’s. He is not happy with me. And I would join in his motion to be relieved, Your Honor.” R. 12, ll. 4-14. In other words, Appellant expressed “his escalating dissatisfaction with his attorney,” and his trial attorney agreed. Fuller, 337 S.C. at 242, 523 S.E.2d at 171. Finally, Appellant told the

court in no uncertain terms that he wanted to represent himself based upon his view that Counsel had not fully assisted him in his case:

So I'm here, you know, to—to let you know that I would like to take the next step and as a self-representative [sic] because I wasn't assisted as I felt like I should have been to get the help that I needed to really have a fighting chance with my case.

R. 13, ll. 10-14 (emphasis added). In so doing, Appellant readily expressed his desire to represent himself. See, e.g., Fuller, 337 S.C. at 242, 523 S.E.2d at 171. Yet the circuit court refused to even acknowledge Appellant's assertion of his right to self-representation, let alone engage in the necessary colloquy. Rather, the court responded as follows:

All right. I mean, it sounds like a lot of your issues that you are presenting to the court, deal with almost like sentencing mitigation issues. And those types of things. *I don't see any basis that you have really presented that makes The Court think that I should grant your motion.* Further, you got an excellent attorney and somebody that can use the issues you just raised to help you work something out or if you don't then you're going to have to go to trial. So I'm going to deny your motion. And you may have to get some serious discussions with Ms. Johnson about, like she said, some of the issues that are being present with you. Because this case is on the trial roster for a couple weeks down the road. So I'm going to deny your motion.

R. 13, ln. 22—R. 14, ln. 12 (emphasis added). This was error.

As in State v. Fuller, Appellant's "request to proceed *pro se* was made in an atmosphere of his escalating dissatisfaction with his attorney." Id. Likewise, Appellant's "purpose in making the request was not to delay or stall the proceedings, but rather to address his growing concerns about his attorney." Id. Yet, the hearing court here failed to even conduct the necessary inquiry once Appellant requested to represent himself. Accordingly, "[t]his omission by the [hearing] court requires reversal." Id.

Moreover, any potential concerns regarding Appellant’s mental competency to waive his right to counsel are illusory; if a defendant is competent to stand trial, then the matter is foreclosed—he has the capacity to waive his rights. In State v. Barnes, the defendant moved to represent himself the Friday prior to the beginning of his trial on Monday. Id. 407 S.C. at 31, 753 S.E.2d at 547. Although he expressed his desire to represent himself and answered questions in the Faretta warnings colloquy with the court, the decision to grant self-representation was withheld till the start of trial. Id. 407 S.C. at 31-32, 753 S.E.2d at 547-48. However, before the court resumed the defendant’s Faretta hearing, it instead heard from the defendant’s trial counsel and their expert regarding the defendant’s competency to even waive his right to counsel. Id. 407 S.C. at 32-33, 753 S.E.2d at 548. After testimony from the psychologist who previously evaluated the defendant, the court denied the defendant’s motion to represent himself “based upon a finding that [the defendant] did not meet the heightened Edwards² standard for competency to represent himself at trial,” even though he was competent to stand trial. Id. 407 S.C. at 33-35, 753 S.E.2d at 548-49. However, the Barnes Court rejected the use of two standards for waiving constitutional rights in South Carolina:

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