**RECEIVED**

**Oct 27 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County  
Honorable G. D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2022-001311

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JEFFERY KEYON TIMOTHY GRIFFIN,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville County Courthouse  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

## II.

**Appellant’s appellate arguments challenging the trial judge’s refusal to grant the directed verdict motion as to the resisting arrest charge are not properly preserved for appellate review because those arguments were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial judge, who was only presented with a general and groundless directed verdict motion that did not include any specific arguments concerning resisting arrest or any of Appellant’s other distinct charges.**

### **Relevant Facts**

During the course of Appellant’s trial, evidence and testimony was presented establishing Appellant was apprehended a short time after he robbed a 7-Eleven convenience store while still in possession of a pillowcase that contained a pistol matching the description of the one used in the robbery along with the exact amount of cash taken in that robbery. (R. pp. 51-63; pp. 69-79; p. 102; pp. 126-151; p. 155). Likewise, evidence and testimony was presented establishing Appellant, who was wearing clothing identical to the clothing worn by the robber, responded to the approach of law enforcement officers by rapidly fleeing, including after he was directly advised he was under arrest and ordered to stop. (R. p. 54; pp. 95-103; pp. 126-151; p. 155). Similarly, testimony and evidence was presented establishing gloves just like those worn by the robber were found in close proximity to the location where Appellant was finally apprehended. (R. p. 73; pp. 88-91; pp. 93-94). Furthermore, testimony and evidence was presented establishing Appellant, who surrendered only after he was confronted by an armed deputy waiting for him on the other side of a wooded area he had fled into, candidly acknowledged his involvement in the robbery upon being arrested. (R. pp. 99-101; pp. 137-138; pp. 142-143).

After that testimony and evidence was presented, the State rested its case, and defense counsel moved for a directed verdict. (R. p. 158). In doing so, defense counsel—in total—asserted: “Judge, at this time I would move for a directed verdict on behalf of my client,

[Appellant], and also renew my previous motions in this case, Your Honor.” (R. p. 158).

Following those groundless and nonspecific remarks, the trial judge denied the directed verdict motion, stating: “As far as the directed verdict, I find there is existence of evidence that would show the defendant is guilty of the crime. Obviously, the standard is whether there is the existence or nonexistence of evidence, and I certainly find there is.” (R. p. 158).

Thereafter, the trial proceeded forward, and Appellant elected to testify on his own behalf. (R. pp. 163-173). Through that testimony, Appellant alleged he was simply a victim of happenstance, had unwittingly picked up the pillowcase filled with the gun and stolen cash while out for a jog in the rain, and had only told the officers he was involved in the armed robbery after unsuccessfully attempting to flee from them because he was depressed and intoxicated. (R. p. 71; pp. 164-167; p. 169; pp. 172-173).

After that testimony was presented, the defense rested, and defense counsel generically renewed all her earlier motions, including—presumably—the directed verdict motion. (R. p. 174). Once again, the trial judge denied those motions. (R. p. 174).

Thereafter, the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury. (R. pp. 177-190). Notably, through her brief closing argument remarks, defense counsel never specifically argued the State’s evidence as to the resisting arrest charge was insufficient as a matter of law and, instead, argued the brevity of the State’s investigation should cause the jurors to have reasonable doubt without discussing any of Appellant’s charges individually or with particularity. (R. pp. 185-188).

Following the closing arguments, the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law, including on the elements of resisting arrest.<sup>5</sup> (R. pp. 190-205). At the conclusion of the charge, defense counsel confirmed she had no objections to the instructions as presented. (R. p. 206).

Subsequent to that, the case was submitted to the jury. (R. p. 206). However, shortly after deliberations began, the jury submitted a note seeking clarification as to what constituted “resisting arrest,” questioning whether it was noncompliance with an order, and asking whether Appellant was immediately told he was under arrest. (R. pp. 207-208). In response to that, the trial judge discussed the matter with the parties, and defense counsel indicated she had no position on the matter and no objection to the trial judge’s proposed course of action. (R. pp. 208-209). Resultantly, the trial judge—without objection—responded by providing a written copy of the resisting arrest charge that had already been presented to the jury and advising them they would need to resolve their fact-based query based on the evidence presented. (R. pp. 208-211).

Ultimately, after a little over an hour of deliberations in total, the jury convicted Appellant of all the indicted charges, including resisting arrest. (R. pp. 212-213). The trial judge then sentenced Appellant to an aggregate twenty-year term of imprisonment, which included a concurrent one-year term of imprisonment for resisting arrest. (R. pp. 220-221).

---

<sup>5</sup> In instructing the jury on resisting arrest, the trial judge stated: “The defendant is also charged with resisting arrest. The State must prove, again, beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant knowingly and willfully resisted a lawful arrest being made by a person the defendant knew or reasonably should have known was a law enforcement officer. ‘Knowingly’ means with knowledge, consciously done. ‘Willfully’ means done intentionally and not done by accident. ‘Resist’ means to oppose, strive against, or obstruct. ‘Obstruct’ means to impede, hinder or interfere with. Even peaceful, nonviolent, indirect obstruction of an arrest or the service or execution of process is considered resisting arrest. If the means used are sufficient to prevent the officer from making an arrest, the defendant is guilty of resisting arrest.” (R. pp. 201-202).

### **Standard of Review**

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review *preserved* errors of law only. State v. Palmer, 415 S.C. 502, 511, 783 S.E.2d 823, 827 (Ct. App. 2016); see State v. Wise, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004) (“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits only to review errors of law which have been properly preserved, i.e., the issue has been raised to and ruled on by the trial court.”); see also State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (recognizing appellate courts “cannot address unpreserved errors”). When reviewing a properly-preserved directed verdict issue on appeal, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge’s ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). In other words, “unless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge’s ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986).

### **Argument**

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is “to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Through their enforcement and application, the trial court is guaranteed a chance “to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and

arguments[,]” and the appellate court is provided with everything needed to properly review whatever ruling is made within the limits of the applicable standard of review. I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000); see Queen’s Grant, 368 S.C. at 373, 628 S.E.2d at 919 (“The rationale for the [error preservation] rule is that until the trial court considers the matter and makes a ruling, an appellate court is unable to find error.”).

For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). Thus, based on those requirements, an issue cannot ordinarily be raised or considered on appeal unless it was first presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); see State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”). Likewise, an appellant is precluded from arguing one ground or theory in support of an issue during trial and then a different ground or theory in support of the issue on appeal. See State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (instructing a defendant cannot raise one argument in support of an issue at trial and then raise a different argument in support of that issue to the appellate court); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”). Significantly, in light of those requirements, a general directed verdict motion “does not preserve *any* issue for appeal.” State v. Sterling, 396 S.C. 599, 612, 723 S.E.2d 176, 183 (2012) (emphasis added); see State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997) (explaining a general objection without any specifics is insufficient to properly preserve an issue for appellate review); cf. Roberts v. State, 408 S.C. 123, 129-130, 757

S.E.2d 744, 747-748 (2014) (concluding Roberts’s directed motion was not properly preserved for appellate review because Roberts only made a general motion for directed verdict based on the sufficiency of the evidence during trial and never raised the specific grounds he advanced on appeal to the trial judge).

In the case at bar, Appellant contends on appeal the trial judge erred by refusing to grant a directed verdict solely as to the resisting arrest charge. And, for the very first time in his case, Appellant—unlike defense counsel during trial—has provided arguments on appeal in support of that contention. More specifically, Appellant now maintains a directed verdict should have been granted because the evidence of his rapid flight from a pursuing law enforcement officer who was ordering him to stop and telling he was under arrest as he continued to flee was allegedly insufficient to prove the offense of resisting arrest under South Carolina law.

Significantly though, defense counsel did not present such arguments in support of the directed verdict motion at trial. Instead, defense counsel *generically* moved for a directed verdict without providing *any* specific grounds in support of that motion. Cf. In re McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (“At trial, appellant made only a general directed verdict motion, stating, ‘I think the State has failed to meet their burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.’ This motion, which stated no specific ground, preserved nothing for appellate review.” (brackets omitted)). In fact, defense counsel did not even distinguish between any of Appellant’s charges when making the directed verdict motion and, thus, did not present even a single charge-specific argument related to any of Appellant’s charges, including his resisting arrest charge. Cf. Sterling, 396 S.C. at 612, 723 S.E.2d at 183 (“At trial, the only court for which [Sterling] identified deficiencies in the State’s case was count 2, one of the two charges for which

[Sterling] was acquitted. There is no proper directed verdict issue concerning count 1 preserved for our review.”).

Under such circumstances, the new arguments Appellant has raised on appeal in support of his current challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence are not properly preserved for appellate review since they were unquestionably neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial judge. See Bailey, 298 S.C. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584 (“A party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal.”); cf. State v. Jordan, 255 S.C. 86, 93, 177 S.E.2d 464, 468 (1970) (“The contention of the appellant that the trial judge erred in failing to grant a directed verdict on the ground that the proof showed the commission of the crime of obtaining property by false pretenses, rather than a breach of trust with fraudulent intent, raises no issue for determination by us because such was not a ground of his motion for a directed verdict. This court has, in numerous cases, held that it will not consider a question on appeal which was not presented in the court below.”); State v. Adams, 332 S.C. 139, 144, 504 S.E.2d 124, 126 (Ct. App. 1998) (“This precise argument was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court. Appellant argued only that the evidence did not rise to the ‘level of a reasonable doubt as to counts 1, 2, and 3.’ . . . Adams’s argument, therefore, is not preserved for our review.”). Therefore, pursuant to the mandates of South Carolina’s issue preservation requirements, Appellant’s appellate challenge to the trial judge’s denial of the general and nonspecific directed verdict motion raised below simply cannot appropriately be considered or addressed for the first time on appeal.<sup>6</sup> See Sterling, 396 S.C. at 612, 723 S.E.2d at 183 (“A

---

<sup>6</sup> Moreover, even if defense counsel’s groundless directed verdict argument had somehow been sufficient to properly preserve the issue for appellate review, the trial judge properly declined to grant a directed verdict as to the resisting arrest charge because the evidence and testimony presented was sufficient to prove that offense since it established the pursuing officers actually intended to arrest Appellant, who continued to flee even after being advised he was under arrest.

general directed verdict motion . . . does not preserve any issue for appeal.”); cf. State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 454-455, 503 S.E.2d 214, 221 (Ct. App. 1998) (“Kennerly . . . contends the trial judge erred in denying her motion for directed verdict based on the State’s failure to introduce into evidence portions of the Benjamin trial transcript regarding the trial judge’s premature deliberations instructions. She argues that without having the specific language of the premature deliberations instructions, the trial court did not have sufficient evidence to find her guilty of contempt. However, Kennerly did not raise this issue to the trial court in her directed verdict motion. *Instead, she simply moved for a directed verdict without stating any specific grounds.* In reviewing a denial of directed verdict, issues not raised to the trial court in support of the directed verdict motion are not preserved for appellate review. A defendant cannot argue on appeal an issue in support of his directed verdict motion when the issue was not presented to the trial court below.” (emphasis added and citations omitted)), aff’d, 337 S.C. 617, 524 S.E.2d 837 (1999). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

---

See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-320(A) (“It is unlawful for a person knowingly and wilfully . . . to resist an arrest *being made* by one whom the person knows or reasonably should know if a law enforcement officer, whether under process or not.” (emphasis added)); cf. State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 489, 504, 697 S.E.2d 593, 597 (2010) (“Because the State has failed put forth any *evidence demonstrating that the officers either intended to arrest Brannon* or that Brannon submitted to the arrest, we find an arrest was not being made when Brannon ran from police.” (emphasis added)).

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.